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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 
 

GLORIA EATON, individually and 
on behalf of all others similarly 
situated, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
THE LITIGATION PRACTICE 
GROUP, P.C., 
 
  Defendant. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

FILE NO.: ________________ 
NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF 
CIVIL ACTION UNDER 28 
U.S.C. § 1441(a) 
 
(DIVERSITY JURISDICTION 
AND FEDERAL QUESTION 
JURISDICTION) 
 
(Removed from the State Court of 
the State of Georgia, County of 
DeKalb, Case No. 22A00366) 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
 

    NOTICE OF REMOVAL  
 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant The Litigation Practice Group, 

P.C. (hereinafter “LPG”) hereby removes the above-captioned action to this Court 

from the State Court of the State of Georgia, County of DeKalb (Case No. 

22A00366) (hereinafter “State Action”).  As set forth herein, LPG has complied with 

the statutory requirements for removal under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1441 and 1446, and this 

Court has both federal question jurisdiction and diversity jurisdiction over this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1332(a)(1), respectively.   
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I. PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

1. The State Action was commenced by Plaintiff filing a lawsuit in Georgia State 

Court, DeKalb County, on January 28, 2022.  A copy of Plaintiff’s Complaint is 

attached at Exhibit A. A copy of all other process, pleadings, and items in 

possession of Defendant from the State Action is attached at Exhibit B, as 

required by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a).  

2.  This Notice is timely, as it is filed within one year of the State Action’s 

commencement on January 28, 2022, and within 30 days of receipt of the 

Plaintiff’s Complaint, which was on February 3, 2022.  See 28 U.S.C. § 

1446(b)(1).  

3. The State Action is properly removed to the United States District Court for the 

Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division, as that is the “district and 

division embracing the place where [the State Action] is pending.”  See 28 

U.S.C. § 1441(a); see also 28 U.S.C. § 90(a)(2) (listing DeKalb County as within 

the Atlanta Division of the Northern District of Georgia).    

4. LPG will promptly file a copy of this Notice of Removal with the clerk of the 

Georgia State Court, DeKalb County, and will serve a copy on the other parties 

to the State Action, as required by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d). 
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II. BACKGROUND 
 

5. The Plaintiff, Gloria Eaton, proposes a class action for alleged violations of the 

Georgia Debt Adjustment Act (“GDAA”), O.C.G.A. § 18-5-1 et seq and The 

Credit Repair Organizations Act (“CROA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1679.  [See 

Complaint.]  

6. The Plaintiff proposes that the class action as to the GDAA claim is on behalf 

of all Georgia residents who have done business with LPG from July 1, 2003 

to the present. [Complaint, ¶ 1.] 

7. The Plaintiff proposes that the class action as to the CROA claim is on behalf 

of all Georgia residents who have done business with LGP within the five years 

preceding the filing of this Complaint. [Complaint, ¶ 1.] 

8. The Plaintiff alleges that LPG is a credit repair organization as that term is 

defined under 15 U.S.C. § 1679a(1). [Complaint, ¶ 12.] 

9. The Plaintiff contends that LPG received payments from Plaintiff for the 

purpose of improving her credit record, credit history, or credit rating. 

[Complaint, ¶ 13.] 

10. Plaintiff contends that LPG violated CROA by paying itself moneys it received 

from Plaintiff for services not yet rendered, and, therefore, Plaintiff and the 
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class members are entitled to recover damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 

1679g(a)(1). [Complaint, ¶¶ 16, 20.] 

11.  The Plaintiff contends that LPG services debtors in the management of their 

debts and contracts with debtors for a fee to affect the adjustment, compromise, 

or discharge of any account, note or other indebtedness of the debtor. 

Accordingly, the Plaintiff contends that LPG is a debt adjuster as that term is 

defined under O.C.G.A. § 18-5-1 asserting [Complaint, ¶¶ 22-23.] 

12. The Plaintiff alleges that LPG accepted from the Plaintiff a charge, fee, or 

contribution that was 100% retained by LPG as a fee. Plaintiff contends that 

the retention of all payments by Plaintiff and the class violated the GDAA 

because the sums were in an amount in excess of the statutorily allowed 7.5% 

permitted by the GDAA to be retained from funds paid by Plaintiff. 

[Complaint, ¶ 33.] 

13. Plaintiff contends that due to LPG’s violations of the GDAA, LPG is liable to 

the Plaintiff and the class members pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 18-5-4(b)(2) in an 

amount equal to the total of all fees, charges, and/or contributions paid by 

Plaintiff and the class members to LPG. [Complaint, ¶ 34.] 
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III. GROUNDS FOR REMOVAL 
 

A. Federal Question Jurisdiction Under 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) 
 
14. “The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising 

under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States.” [See 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331.]   

15. “Under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, a federal court may exercise jurisdiction over a case 

if it presents a question of federal law. Federal-question jurisdiction may be 

based on a civil action alleging a violation of the Constitution, or asserting a 

federal cause of action established by a congressionally created expressed or 

implied private remedy for violations of a federal statute.” Citimortgage, Inc. 

v. Dhinoja, 705 F.Supp.2d 1378, 1381 (N.D. Ga. 2010) (internal citations and 

quotation marks omitted). 

16. “The presence or absence of federal-question jurisdiction is governed by the 

‘well-pleaded complaint rule,’ which provides that federal jurisdiction exists 

only when a federal question is presented on the face of the plaintiff’s properly 

pleaded complaint. The rule makes the plaintiff the master of the claim; he or 

she may avoid federal jurisdiction by exclusive reliance on state law.” 

Caterpillar Inc. v. Williams, 482 U.S. 386, 392 (1987). 
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17. The Plaintiff asserts that LPG violated CROA, and requests relief pursuant to 

15 U.S.C. § 1679g(a)(1). [See Complaint, ¶¶ 16, 20.] Accordingly, the 

Plaintiff’s Complaint presents a federal question on its face, giving this Court 

jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

 
B. There Is Complete Diversity Between the Parties 

 
18. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332 because there is complete diversity between the parties and the amount 

in controversy exceeds $75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.  

19. The Plaintiff presumably is now, and was at the commencement of this action, 

a citizen of the State of Georgia.  [Complaint, ¶ 2.] 

20. Defendant LPG is now, and was when the State Action was filed, a citizen of 

the State of California. [Complaint, ¶¶ 3-4.] 

21. Defendant LPG is a P.C. incorporated in the State of California with its 

principle place of business in California.  

22. There are no other parties to the lawsuit.  

C. The Amount In Controversy Exceeds $75,000.00 
 

23. The Plaintiff claims that as a result of LPG’s alleged violation of the GDAA, 

she and the members of the proposed class are entitled to recover actual 

damages and punitive damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1679g(a)(1) and 15 
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U.S.C. § 1679g(a)(2)(A) respectively, as well as attorney’s fees and costs 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 1679g(a)(3). [Complaint, ¶ 20.]  

24. The Plaintiff claims that as a result of LPG’s alleged violation of CROA, she 

and the members of the proposed class are entitled to recover in an amount 

“equal to the total of all fees, charges, and/or contributions paid by Plaintiff and 

the Class Members to the Defendant, plus statutory damages in the amount of 

$5,000.00 per Class Member.” [Complaint, ¶ 34.] 

25. The serious allegations made by the Plaintiff in the Complaint, as well as 

Plaintiff’s class action proposals, makes clear that this exceeds the $75,000.00 

amount in controversy requirement.  

IV. RESERVATION OF RIGHTS 
 

26. LPG denies the allegations contained in Plaintiff’s Complaint, and files this 

Notice of Removal without waiving any defenses, objections, exceptions, or 

obligations that may exist in LPG’s favor.  

 Respectfully submitted this 4th day of March, 2022. 

HUFF, POWELL & BAILEY 
 
/s/ Devon G. Zawko 

      ______________________________ 
      DANIEL J. HUFF 
      Ga. Bar No. 374860 
       

Case 1:22-cv-00917-JPB   Document 1   Filed 03/04/22   Page 7 of 9



- 8 - 
 

DAVID D. MACKENZIE 
      Ga. Bar No. 796972 
      DEVON G. ZAWKO 
      Ga. Bar No. 212490 
       
999 Peachtree Street, NE 
Suite 950 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309 
(404) 892-4022 
(404) 892-4033 (Fax)   
dhuff@huffpowellbailey.com 
dmackenzie@huffpowellbailey.com 
dzawko@huffpowellbailey.com  

Counsel for Defendant The Litigation 
Practice Group, P.C. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

This is to certify that I have this day presented the within and foregoing 

NOTICE OF REMOVAL in Times New Roman 14-point font to the Clerk of Court 

by filing and uploading to the CM/ECF system and by depositing same in the United 

States Mail with sufficient postage thereon to assure delivery to the following 

attorneys of record: 

James W. Hurt, Jr. 
HURT STOLZ, P.C. 

1551 Jennings Mill Road 
Suite 3100-B 

Watkinsville, Georgia 30677 
jhurt@hurtstolz.com 

 
 

James M. Feagle 
Chelsea R. Feagle 

SKAAR & FEAGLE, LLP 
2374 Main Street, Suite B 

Tucker, Georgia 30084 
jfeagle@skaarandfeagle.com 

 

 This 4th day of March, 2022. 

HUFF, POWELL & BAILEY 
 
      /s/ Devon G. Zawko 
      ______________________________ 
      DANIEL J. HUFF 
      Ga. Bar No. 374860 
      DAVID D. MACKENZIE 
      Ga. Bar No. 796972 
      DEVON G. ZAWKO 
      Ga. Bar No. 212490 
       
999 Peachtree Street, NE 
Suite 950 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309 
(404) 892-4022 
(404) 892-4033 (Fax) 

Counsel for Defendant The Litigation 
Practice Group, P.C. 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

STATE COURT COMPLAINT 
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IN THE STATE COURT OF DEKALB COUNTY 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

GLORIA EATON, individually and on 
Behalf of all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CIVIL ACTION NUMBER: 22A003GG 
v. 

THE LITIGATION PRACTICE GROUP, ) 
PC. ) 

Defendant. 
) 
) 

CLASS ACTION 
Jury Trial Demanded 

CLASSACTlON COMPLAINTFORDAMAGFS 

COMES NOW, Gloria Eaton ("Plaintiff''), individually and on behalf of all others 

similarly situated, and files this Class Action Complaint for Damages against The 

Litigation Practice Group PC ("Defendant") for violations of the Credit Repair 

Organizations Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1679 et seq. and the Georgia Debt Adjustment Act, 

OCGA §§ 18-5-1 et seq., showing this Honorable Court the following: 

NATURE OF THEACTlON 

1. 

This is a proposed class action brought on behalf of all Georgia residents who have 

done business with Defendant from July 1, 2003 to the present wherein Defendant 

engaged in debt adjusting as defined by Georgia's Debt Adjustment Act, OCGA §§ 18-5-1 

et seq., (hereinafter the "Act" or "GDAA'') for said Georgia residents. Further, Plaintiff 

proposes a class action for violations of the Credit Repair Organizations Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

1679 et seq. (hereinafter the "Act" or "CROA'') for all Georgia residents who have done 

business with Defendant within the five years preceding the filing of this Complaint 

through the current date. 

Page 1 of17 STATE COURT OF 
DEKALB COUNTY, GA. 

1/2812022 3:31 PM 
E-FILED 

BY: Monica Gay 
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PARTIFS. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. 

Plaintiff is domiciled in the state of Georgia and DeKalb County. 

3-

Defendant The Litigation Practice Group PC is a California professional 

corporation, not registered with the Georgia Secretary of State, with its principal place of 

business at 17542 1ih Street, Suite 100, Tustin, California 92780. 

4-

Defendant names as its registered agent for service of process Daniel S. March, at 

17542 1ih Street, Suite 100, Tustin, California 92780. 

5-

Defendant is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court pursuant to the Georgia Long 

Arm Statute, OCGA § 9-10-91, as Defendant transacts business within the state, has 

committed a tortious act or omission within this state, and/or has committed a tortious 

injury in this state caused by an act or omission outside this state. 

6. 

Defendant regularly solicits and transacts business in Georgia, engages in other 

persistent courses of conduct in Georgia, or derives substantial revenue from services 

rendered in this state. 

7-

Defendant has not complied with the annual registration requirements of 

OCGA § 18-5-3.1 and is therefore not authorized to offer debt adjustment services in this 

state, but has nevertheless engaged within this state in said debt adjustment services. 
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8. 

Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to OCGA § 9-10-93. 

9. 

Defendant is subject to the jurisdiction and venue of this Court. 

1HE CREDIT REPAIR ORGANIZATIONS ACT. 15 U.S.C. § 1679 

10. 

The Credit Repair Organizations Act ("CROA'') states as its purpose: 

(1) to ensure that prospective buyers of the services of credit 
repair organizations are provided with the information 
necessary to make an informed decision regarding the 
purchase of such services; and 

(2) to protect the public from unfair or deceptive advertising 
and business practices by credit repair organizations. 

15 U.S.C. § 1679 (b). 

11. 

Plaintiff and the Class Members are consumers within the definition of CROA. 15 

U.S.C. § 1679a (1). 

12. 

Defendant is a "credit repair organization" within the definition of CROA, as it is: 

[a] person who uses any instrumentality of interstate 
commerce or the mails to sell, provide, or perform (or 
represent that such person can or will sell, provide, or perform) 
any service, in return for the payment of money or other 
valuable consideration, for the express or implied purpose 
of-

(i) improving any consumer's credit record, credit 
history, or credit rating; or 

(ii) providing advice or assistance to any consumer 
with regard to any activity or service described in 
clause (i)[.] 
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15 U.S.C. § 1679a (3) (A). 

13. 

Defendant received payments from Plaintiff and the Class Members for the express 

purpose of improving her credit record, credit history or credit rating and engaged in the 

above-described activities, which if successful, would necessarily result in credit repair, 

since a settled debt would reduce the consumer's debt-to-credit ratio (utilization), 

increase the consumer's credit score, and would appear on a credit report as paid, partly 

paid, or settled. 

14. 

Under CROA, "No person may ... make or use any untrue or misleading 

representation of the services of the credit repair organization." 15 U.S.C. § 1679b (a) (3). 

15. 

CROA states that "[n]o credit repair organization may charge or receive any money 

or other valuable consideration for the performance of any service which the credit repair 

organization has agreed to perform for any consumer before such service is fully 

performed." 15 U.S.C. § 1679b (b). 

16. 

Defendant paid itself moneys it received from Plaintiff and the Class Members for 

its planned services to Plaintiff and the Class Members, before those services were fully 

performed. 

17. 

Defendant repeatedly made untrue and misleading representations to Plaintiff and 

the Class Members in violation of CROA by informing Plaintiff and the Class Members 

that Defendant would repair their credit, but instead Defendant lined its pockets with 
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Plaintiffs and the Class Members' money while doing either little or nothing to truly assist 

Plaintiff and the Class Members or improve their credit. 

18. 

CROA states that: 

(a) Liability established 

Any person who fails to comply with any provision of this 
subchapter with respect to any other person shall be liable to 
such person in an amount equal to the sum of the amounts 
determined under each of the following paragraphs: 

(1) Actual damages 

The greater of-

(A) the amount of any actual damage sustained 
by such person as a result of such failure; or 

(B) any amount paid by the person to the credit 
repair organization. 

(2) Punitive damages 

(A) Individual actions 

In the case of any action by an individual, such 
additional amount as the court may allow. 

(B) Class actions 

In the case of a class action, the sum of-

(i) the aggregate of the amount which the 
court may allow for each named plaintiff; 
and 

(ii) the aggregate of the amount which 
the court may allow for each other class 
member, without regard to any 
minimum individual recovery. 

(3) Attorneys' fees 
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In the case of any successful action to enforce any 
liability under paragraph (1) or (2), the costs of the 
action, together with reasonable attorneys' fees. 

(b) Factors to be considered in awarding punitive damages 

In determining the amount of any liability of any credit repair 
organization under subsection (a)(2), the court shall consider, 
among other relevant factors-

15 u.s.c. § 1679g. 

(1) the frequency and persistence of noncompliance by 
the credit repair organization; 

(2) the nature of the noncompliance; 

(3) the extent to which such noncompliance was 
intentional; and 

(4) in the case of any class action, the number of 
consumers adversely affected. 

19. 

Plaintiff and the Class Members have suffered actual damages under CROA as a 

result of the Defendant's actions. 

20. 

Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to recover their actual damages [15 

U.S.C. § 1679g (a) (1)] as well as punitive damages [15 U.S.C. § 1679g (a) (2) (A)] and 

attorneys' fees and costs [15 U.S.C. 1679g (a) (3)] from Defendant under CROA. 

GEORGIA'S DEBT ADJUSTMENT ACT, OCGA§§ 18-5-1 et seq. 

21. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as if 

fully restated herein and further states as follows: 
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22. 

The GDAA at OCGA § 18-5-1, defines debt adjusting as: 

[D]oing business in debt adjustments, budget counseling, 
debt management, or debt pooling service or holding oneself 
out, by words of similar import, as providing services to 
debtors in the management of their debts and contracting 
with a debtor for a fee to: 

(A) Effect the adjustment, compromise, or discharge of any 
account, note or other indebtedness of the debtor; 

(B) Receive from the debtor and disburse to his or her 
creditors any money or other thing of value. 

23. 

Defendant fits squarely within the definition of a "debt adjuster" as Defendant 

"provid[es] services to debtors in the management of their debts and contracting with a 

debtor for a fee to effect the adjustment, compromise, or discharge of any account, note 

or other indebtedness of the debtor." 

From its initial creation by the Georgia General Assembly in 1956 until its 

amendment of July 1, 2003, the GDAA stated that "[i]t shall be unlawful for any person 

to engage in the business of debt adjusting" and that "[a]ny person who engages in 

the business of debt adjusting . . . shall be guilty of a misdemeanor." 

OCGA § 18-5-2 (1956) (emphasis added). 

Thus, the original GDAA undeniably closed and locked the door for persons to offer 

debt adjusting for a fee in this state, unless incidental to the practice of law in this state. 

Defendant's agreement clearly states that it is a California law firm and is not licensed to 

practice law or provide legal advice in the State of Georgia. 
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26. 

In 2003, the General Assembly substantially amended the GDAA. In the 

amendment's enabling clause, the legislature stated that the purpose is: 

To limit the maximum charge that may be imposed for the 
provision of debt adjustment services; to provide for 
definitions; to provide for exemptions from those provisions 
related to debt adjustment; to require persons engaged in debt 
adjusting to obtain an annual audit of all accounts and to 
maintain a certain amount and type of insurance coverage; to 
provide for the disbursement of a debtor's funds within 30 
days of receipt; to require persons engaged in debt adjusting 
to maintain trust accounts for debtors' funds; to provide for 
civil and criminal violations and penalties; to provide for 
investigation and enforcement; to provide for related matters; 
to provide for an effective date; to repeal conflicting laws; and 
for other purposes. 

2003 Ga. Laws No. 103 p. 392 (House Bill No. 385). 

27. 

The amended GDAA thus removed the out•and-out prohibition on debt adjusting 

for a fee and cracked the door to allow debt adjusters to operate in Georgia as long as the 

Act's mandates are followed. 

28. 

The amended GDAA commands that the debt adjuster "shall maintain a separate 

trust account for the receipt of any and all funds from debtors and the disbursement of 

such funds on behalf of debtors" (OCGA § 18-5-3.2(b)); "shall disburse to the appropriate 

creditors all funds received from the debtor, less any fees authorized by [the Act], within 

thirty days of receipt" (OCGA § 18-5-3.2(a)); "shall obtain annual audits from 

independent CP As on all accounts in which Georgia debtors' funds have been deposited" 

(OCGA § 18-5-3.1(a)(1)); "shall obtain a specified level of insurance coverage for employee 
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dishonesty depositor's forgery and computer fraud" (OCGA § 18-5-3.1(a)(2)); and "shall 

accept from a debtor who resides in this state, either directly 
or indirectly, any charge, fee, contribution, or combination 
thereof in an amount in excess of 7·5 percent of the amount 
paid monthly by such debtor to such person for distribution 
to creditors of such debtor ... 

OCGA § 18-5-2 (emphasis added). 

29. 

The amendment further provided for a civil remedy for a person's violation of the 

GDAA. OCGA § 18-5-4 states: 

Any person who engages in debt adjusting in violation of the 
provisions of [OCGA § 18-5-2 or§ 18-5-3.2(a)] shall further be 
liable to the debtor in an amount equal to the total of all fees, 
charges, or contributions paid by the debtor plus $5,000.00. 
Such debtor shall have the right to bring a cause of action 
directly against such person for violation of the provisions of 
this chapter. 

VIOIATIONS OF GEORGIA'S DEBT ADJUSTMENT ACT 

30. 

Plaintiff incorporates each of the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

31. 

Defendant is engaged in the business of providing "Debt Adjusting" services as that 

term is defined in OCGA § 18-5-1. 

32. 

Defendant provided Debt Adjusting services to Plaintiff and the Class Members 

while they resided in the State of Georgia. 
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33. 

Defendant contracted for and accepted from Plaintiff and the Class Members a 

charge, fee, contribution, or combination thereof of a monthly fee in which no part of it 

went to creditors and thus was 100% retained by Defendant as a fee. The Defendant's 

retention of all payments by Plaintiff and the Class Members violated the GDAA because 

said sums were all an amount in excess of the statutorily allowed 7 .5% permitted by the 

GDAA to be retained from funds paid by plaintiffs for the distribution to Plaintiffs and 

the Class Members' creditors. 

34. 

Due to said violations of the GDAA, pursuant to OCGA § 18-5-4 (b) (2), the 

Defendant is liable to Plaintiff and the Class Members in an amount equal to the total of 

all fees, charges, and/ or contributions paid by Plaintiff and the Class Members to the 

Defendant, plus statutory damages in the amount of $5,000.00 per Class Member. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

35. 

Plaintiff seeks to have this Court certify the following classes: 

Class 1: All persons who, while residing in the state of 
Georgia, received debt settlement or debt adjusting services 
from Defendant on or after July 1, 2003 and from whom 
Defendant accepted, directly or indirectly, any charge, fee, 
contribution, or combination thereof, in violation of the 
Georgia Debt Adjustment Act. 

Class 2: All persons who, while residing in the state of 
Georgia, received credit repair services from Defendant on or 
after five (5) years from the filing of this Complaint through 
the current time. 
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36. 

On information and belief, the named Plaintiff and the Plaintiff Class Members 

were solicited by Defendant through a standard marketing scheme which the Defendant 

offered Debt Adjustment services and credit repair services. Such marketing and services 

are typical of those experienced by the Plaintiff and the proposed Plaintiff Class Members. 

37. 

On information and belief, the contract entered into between Defendant and 

Plaintiff is a standard contract which is substantially the same as the contract Defendant 

entered into with the Plaintiff Class Members. 

38. 

On information and belief, the fees collected by the Defendant from the proposed 

Plaintiff Class Members are uniformly assessed to every customer of Defendant and can 

readily be determined from a ministerial review of the records of the Defendant. 

39. 

The names and addresses of the Plaintiff Class Members can readily be determined 

from a ministerial review of the records of the Defendant and through the account 

statements of the Defendant pertaining to collection of such charges, fees, contributions, 

or combinations thereof. 

40. 

The membership of the class is numerous and joinder of individual plaintiffs is 

impractical. On information and belief, the Defendant has provided Debt Adjustment 

services to hundreds of residents of the State of Georgia since July 1, 2003. Further, the 

Defendant has provided credit repair services to hundreds of residents of the State of 

Georgia for the period of the past five years through the current time. 
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41. 

There are questions of law and fact common to all members of the Plaintiff class, 

and these common questions of law and fact predominate over any individual issues. The 

principle questions pertinent to the class as a whole include: 

a) Whether the Defendant's standard means of doing business in debt 

adjustments, debt settlement, debt reduction, budget counseling, and debt 

management constitutes "Debt Adjustment" under OCGA § 18-5-1; 

b) Whether Defendant is a "credit repair organization" within the definition of 

CROA; 

c) Whether Defendant violated OCGA § 18-5-2 by accepting excessive fees 

from Plaintiff Class Members for the provision of Debt Adjnstment services; 

d) Whether Defendant violated CROA by "mak[ing] or us[ing] any untrue or 

misleading representation of the services of the credit repair organization" 

15 U.S.C. § 1679b (a) (3); 

e) Whether Defendant violated CROA by "charg[ing] or receiv[ing] any money 

or other valuable consideration for the performance of any service which 

the credit repair organization has agreed to perform for any consumer 

before such service is fully performed" 15 U.S.C. § 1679b (b); 

f) The liability of the Defendant for violations of the Georgia Debt Adjustment 

Act; 

g) The liability of the Defendant for violations of CROA; 

h) The appropriate measure of damages and the appropriate remedies; 

i) The availability of statutory damages pursuant to OCGA § 18-5-4; and 

j) Defenses raised by the Defendant. 
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42. 

The claims of the named Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Plaintiff Class 

Members, which all arise from the same operative facts and are based on the same legal 

theories, and Plaintiffs claims will thus adequately represent those of the Plaintiff Class 

Members. 

43. 

The named Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Plaintiff 

Class Members. Plaintiffs have retained counsel with experience in class action litigation, 

and they are not aware of any interest that might cause them not to vigorously pursue this 

case. 

44. 

A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder is impracticable. The expense and burden 

of individual litigation make it virtually impossible for the members of the class to proceed 

individually, and it is therefore most efficient to resolve all claims based on the 

Defendant's conduct in one forum. 

45. 

The Plaintiff is aware of no difficulties that will be encountered in the management 

of this litigation that would render the action unmanageable. This is not a class action that 

will require an analysis of Defendant's conduct as to individual Class Members. 

46. 

Prosecution of separate actions by individual Plaintiff Class Members would be 

inefficient and create adjudications that would not be dispositive of the interests of the 

other members not parties to the adjudication. 
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47. 

Plaintiff is not aware of any other pending actions against this Defendant for these 

same causes of action. 

48. 

Without a class action mechanism, members of the Plaintiff Class would be 

substantially impaired or impeded in their ability to protect their interests. The value of 

claims of the individual Class Members would be in an amount that makes prosecution 

outside of the class action uneconomical. 

49. 

A final judgment on the merits of the named Plaintiffs claims would be fully 

dispositive of the claims and interests of those similarly situated who are not specifically 

named as a plaintiff in this action. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff being entitled to a trial by jury and judgment against 

Defendant, prays for the following: 

a) That summons be directed to Defendant and served upon it as provided by law; 

b) That this Court set this matter down for a class certification discovery 

scheduling conference following the commencement of this action; 

c) That Plaintiff be designated class representative for the Classes as defined 

herein; 

d) That Plaintiffs counsel be designated class counsel for the Classes as defined 

herein; 

e) That a Class be certified for all persons who, while residing in the State of 

Georgia, received debt settlement or debt adjusting services from Defendant on 

Page 14 of 17 

Case 1:22-cv-00917-JPB   Document 1-1   Filed 03/04/22   Page 15 of 18



or after July 1, 2003 and from whom Defendants accepted, directly or indirectly, 

any charge, fee, contribution, or combination thereof; 

f) That a Class be certified for all persons who, while residing in the State of 

Georgia, received credit repair services from Defendant on or after five years 

from the date of the filing of this Complaint through the current time; 

g) That the Court hold a hearing as soon as practicable for the determination of 

class certification for the Classes; 

h) For each violation of OCGA §§ 18-5-1 et seq. by Defendant, that Plaintiff and 

the members of the Class be awarded an amount equal to all charges, fees, 

contributions, or combinations therefore paid to Defendant plus $5,000.00 as 

allowed under OCGA §§ 18-5-1 et seq.; 

i) For each violation of CROA by Defendant, that Plaintiff and the members of the 

Class be awarded their actual damages; 

j) For its violations of CROA, that this Court award punitive damages to the Class 

pursuant to the guidelines as outlined in 15 U.S.C. § 1679g (b); 

k) That this Court award attorneys' fees and costs against Defendant pursuant to 

15 U.S.C. § 1679g (a) (3); 

I) That Defendant be required to pay all monies herein referred to in 

subparagraph h), i), andj) into a common fund for the benefit of the Classes; 

m) That the Court conduct a "fairness hearing," after due and proper notice to all 

members of the Classes, and make such award of attorneys' fees and expenses 

as the Court deems appropriate from the common fund (as above referred to) 

and/or from Defendant; 
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n) That Plaintiff, individually and as class representative for the Classes, have a 

trial by jury; 

o) That Plaintiff and the members of the Classes be awarded interest on any award 

granted, with such interest accruing from the time of the filing of this 

Complaint until the time final Judgment in this case is paid; 

p) That the named Plaintiff be awarded an incentive award from Defendant for 

the benefit the named Plaintiff has conferred on the Class members through 

her commitment of time and expense in conducting this lawsuit; and 

q) That the named Plaintiff, individually and as class representative of all others 

similarly situated, have such other equitable and further relief as this Court 

deems proper. 

Respectfully submitted, this 28th day of January, 2022. 

1551 Jennings Mill Road 
Suite 3100-B 
Watkinsville, Georgia 30677 
(706) 395-2750 
Facsimile: 706-996-2576 
jhurt@hurtstolz.com 

2374 Main Street, Suite B 

HURT STOLZ, P.C. 

Isl James W. Hurt, Jr. 
By: James W. Hurt, Jr. 
Georgia Bar No.: 380104 

SKAAR & FEAGLE, LLP 

sl James M. Feagle 
By: James M. Feagle 
Georgia Bar No.: 256916 
Chelsea R. Feagle 
Georgia Bar No.: 110863 
Kris Skaar 
Justin T. Holcombe 
Cliff R. Dorsen 
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Tucker, Georgia 30084 
(404) 373-1970 
Facsimile: 404-601-1855 
;ifuf!g}J)@skaarandfeagle.com AITORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

AND THE PUTATIVE CLASS 
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Version 1.1.18 

General Civil and Domestic Relations Case Filing Information Form 

 
 State Court of ______________________________ County ܆ Superior or ܆

     
For Clerk Use Only 

 

Date Filed _________________________  Case Number _________________________ 

             MM-DD-YYYY 
 

Plaintiff(s)                                                                             Defendant(s) 

__________________________________________________    __________________________________________________ 
Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix         Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix 

__________________________________________________    __________________________________________________ 
Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix         Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix 
__________________________________________________    __________________________________________________ 
Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix         Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix 
__________________________________________________    __________________________________________________ 
Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix         Last                       First                       Middle I.        Suffix        Prefix 
 

Plaintiff·s Attorney ________________________________________     Bar Number __________________     Self-Represented ܆ 
 

Check One Case Type in One Box  

 
General Civil Cases 
 

 Automobile Tort ܆
 Civil Appeal  ܆
 Contract ܆
 Garnishment ܆
 General Tort ܆
 Habeas Corpus ܆
 Injunction/Mandamus/Other Writ ܆
 Landlord/Tenant ܆
 Medical Malpractice Tort ܆
 Product Liability Tort     ܆
 Real Property     ܆
 Restraining Petition     ܆
 Other General Civil ܆
 
 
 
 
 

Domestic Relations Cases 
 

  Adoption      ܆
 Dissolution/Divorce/Separate      ܆

Maintenance 
 Family Violence Petition      ܆
  Paternity/Legitimation      ܆
 Support ² IV-D      ܆
 Support ² Private (non-IV-D)      ܆
 Other Domestic Relations      ܆
 
 

Post-Judgment ² Check One Case Type 
 

 Contempt         ܆

  ,Non-payment of child support ܆     

medical support, or alimony 

 Modification        ܆
  Other/Administrative        ܆
 

 Check if the action is related to another action(s) pending or previously pending in this court involving some or all ܆
of the same parties, subject matter, or factual issues. If so, provide a case number for each. 

 
____________________________________________  ____________________________________________   

               Case Number                                                             Case Number                                
 

 I hereby certify that the documents in this filing, including attachments and exhibits, satisfy the requirements for ܆
redaction of personal or confidential information in O.C.G.A. § 9-11-7.1. 

 

 ________________________________ .Is an interpreter needed in this case? If so, provide the language(s) required ܆
                    Language(s) Required 
  

 .Do you or your client need any disability accommodations? If so, please describe the accommodation request  ܆
 _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

■

■

■

DeKalb

Eaton, Gloria The Litigation Practice Group, PC

Hurt, James W. Jr. 380104

22A003661/28/2022
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IN THE STATE COURT OF DEKALB COUNTY 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
GLORIA EATON, individually and on  ) 
Behalf of all others similarly situated, ) 
      ) 
 Plaintiff,    ) 
      ) CIVIL ACTION NUMBER: 
v.      ) 
      )      
THE LITIGATION PRACTICE GROUP, ) 
PC.      ) 
      ) 
 Defendant.    ) 
      ) 
 

SUMMONS 

TO THE ABOVE NAMED DEFENDANT: 
 

You are hereby summoned and required to file with the Clerk of said Court and 

serve upon the Plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and address is: 

 
JAMES W. HURT, JR. 
HURT STOLZ, P.C. 
1551 JENNINGS MILL ROAD, UNIT 3100B 
WATKINSVILLE, GEORGIA 30677 

 
an answer to the Complaint which is herewith served upon you, within thirty (30) days 

after service of this summons upon you, exclusive of the day of service. If you fail to do so, 

judgment by default will be taken against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 

This ____________ day of ___________________________, 2022. 
 
 
            
     Clerk of State Court 
 
     By:       
     Deputy Clerk 

22A00366

1/28/2022

/s/ Monica Gay
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BY: Kelly M Johnson
E-FILED

2/7/2022 3:26 PM
DEKALB COUNTY, GA.

STATE COURT OF
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Gloria Eaton, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 
situated 

The Litigation Practice Group, P.C.
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James Hurt, Jr., HURT STOLZ, P.C., 1551 Jennings Mill 
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✔

Plaintiff proposes a class action for alleged violations of the Georgia Debt Adjustment Act, O.C.G.A. § 18-5-1 et seq and 
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